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Vision

Inovest aims to be the benchmark for generating innovative investment
opportunities, merging global best practice and regional investment acumen to
deliver profitable and value adding ventures to shareholders, clients, business
partners, employees, and the communities we serve.

Vission

Inovest will continually foster a commitment to delivering superior returns by
becoming a gateway for diverse and innovative investments, building strategic
partnerships, and earning investor enthusiasm and trust. Inovest will be recognized
for its pioneering approach to delivering consistent performance based on global
best practices, and by the integrity and principles of Shariah compliance.

CVANOIES)

¢ Delivering superior returns - Inovest is results focused — our business
mantra dictates that actions speak louder than words and our brand credo
will be delivered through tangible results.

e Being a gateway for innovative investment - Inovest aims to become the
partner of choice for pioneering investment opportunities.

* Forming strategic partnerships - Inovest believes in building mutually
beneficial relationships that allow us to capitalize on the values and strengths
of our partners and vice versa.

e Earning investor enthusiasm and trust - Inovest will establish itself as a
benchmark for investor relationship management ensuring the investor voice
is always heard, and that their expectations are always exceeded.

e Pioneering approach - Inovest will introduce new sector focus, and become
a creator of options and opportunities for our stakeholders.
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In the name of Allah, Most Gracious, Most Merciful.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present to you
the Directors’ Report of Inovest for the year ended 31 December
2010.

In 2010, Inovest saw a number of unparalleled extended
challenges in regional and local markets, and similarly faced some
on an internal business level. This has meant greater focus on
sustaining our business, some investment restructuring, and
stricter cost management. However, in such times of uncertainty
we are exceptionally pleased with our resilience and our drive to
advance our business developments. In spite of the difficulties
that faced all players within the sector this past year, such as shifts
in market well-being and investor sentiment as well as the ripple
effect of changes in the wider financial sector, we have continued
to invest in the company’s strategy for long term growth and have
worked diligently to continue moving our business forward at all
times.

Positive Progress

With due consideration for the inevitable impact of the financial
crisis on our business, Inovest took a number of decisions early on
to ensure the company’s sustainability and future growth. Inovest
chose to maintain its ongoing investments, and remain true to our
vision and mission, and to our plans for business development.
In this regard, we took the strategic decision to liquidate and
reallocate a number of assets towards project continuity. Some
of the projects which saw sustained development as a result
including the Bahrain Water Technology Company, which will be
a significant contribution to the Kingdom’s water filter industry, Al
Noor in Luzi, and the Tameer Commercial District. This year also
saw the launch of Takhzeen, a self storage facility designed to be
a new benchmark in personal and business storage in Bahrain.
The Takhzeen self storage facility is already under construction
and is set to be operational within 2011.

Strategy

We expect to see our performance levels enhanced within the
following years despite ongoing challenges. In line with the main
pillars of our strategy we will focus on new growth platforms
for business development and expansion, further streamlining
of operations to ensure efficiency and speed balanced with
appropriate risk mitigation, and greater project innovation and
client relationship management. Developing the synergies and
mutually beneficial relationships between Inovest and our principle
subsidiary Tameer remains an ongoing commitment.

Corporate Governance

Trust in our business is important to us, especially in such turbulent
times, and for that reason we have added even more focus to
our mandate of corporate governance. This has translated in
terms of recruitment for the upkeep of our reporting standards,
development of policies and procedures, and adherence to
established standards of industry best practice. We remain
guided by the regulatory requirements of the Central Bank of
Bahrain (CBB) and both the Bahrain and Kuwait Stock Exchanges
and the Ministry of Industry and Commerce by the belief that work
on our governance standards will not only add to our integrity as
a financial institution, but will also enable us to become better
equipped to deal with future challenges and to benefit from
potential opportunities.

Financial Results

The year ended 31 December 2010, saw Inovest’s Group activities
resulting in a net loss of US$ 34.9 Million compared to USD 11.3
Million of the previous year. This change is mainly attributed to
revaluation provisions taken against investment properties.

As of 31st December 2010, total shareholders’ equity has USD
205 Million. In addition, the total size of the balance sheet went
from USD 428.5 Million in the previously reported year to USD
369.4 Million in 2010 end due to the repayments of outstanding
payables and the reported loss.

The financial results for 2010 reflect a conscious decision to
undertake a conservative business strategy with the Group’s
portfolio. Much of our negative results are due to mark-to-market
real estate asset re-evaluations and provisions, which were taken
on in order to approach the 2011 fiscal year with unburdened
dynamism. We firmly believe this strategy will enable us to better
serve the interests of our shareholders, investors and to gear up
for a more industrious year ahead.

Chairman’s Message (continued)
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Looking Forward

Admittedly, the operational and financial environment within the
financial sector continues to be challenging. However, we are
confident that our perseverance, sense of purpose, and collective
dynamism will enable us to outlast challenges to come, and
moreover to have a productive year ahead. We have moved
swiftly to reposition ourselves with an eye to the internal and
external requirements for success in the environment in which we
expect to perform. This is solidly translated into the pillars for
our strategy and the action plan we have set to take us forward.
Within our strategy we have set forth mandates for diversification
in terms of business sectors, including investment prospects in Oil
and Gas, Manufacturing, Leisure, Healthcare, and Water amongst
others. We have also taken scope of prospects for development
in new geographic areas on both International and Regional fronts,
with an emphasis on more promising opportunities, as seen in our
ventures within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my
appreciation to His Majesty King Hamad bin Isa Al Khalifa, His
Royal Highness Prince, Khalifa bin Salman Al Khalifa, the Prime
Minister and His Royal Highness Prince Salman bin Hamad Al
Khalifa, the Crown Prince and Commander in Chief of the Bahrain
Defense Force for their wise leadership, support, and role in
cementing Bahrain’s economic well-being and global presence.
My thanks also go to the several ministries and governing bodies
of Bahrain for their support and cooperation throughout the year.
To our shareholders, investors, board of directors, and business
partners; who have played a significant role in our Group’s progress,
| would like to extend my sincere thanks and appreciation. Finally,
| would like to recognize our employees’ invaluable contributions
over the years, their loyalty, diligence, and hard work supports our
Group’s best interests at all times and is essential to our ongoing
development and success.

We ask God Almighty to guide our steps on the road to success.

Chairman’s Message

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

»
-

v

Samir Yaqoob Al-Nafisi
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In the name of Allah, Most Gracious, Most Merciful.

Inovest, like many of its industry counterparts, spent the
better part of the 2010 fiscal year in an effort to weather the
exceptionally turbulent aftermath of a global economic meltdown
and to regain grounds after it. This has meant dealing with harsh
market conditions for project inception, weary investor sentiment,
unfavorable exit conditions, sizable adjustments to asset values,
and tight liquidity. Dealing with these issues, in an effort to clear
grounds for sustained future growth, has resulted in a year of loss
for Inovest; an expected and rather unavoidable situation.

Against this backdrop, seeking improvement and opportunity
was, and continues to be, integral to our approach to business
operations.  Accordingly, and despite the challenges faced,
Inovest managed to successfully continue works on existing
projects, and to further launch new ones. Our commitment to
continuing business whilst managing cost has delivered results;
Inovest successfully closed the capital raising phase for Bahrain
Water Technology Co. (BWTC), a first of its kind manufacturing
facility for the production of water filter cartridges for use in the
household, industrial and commercial sectors, as well as in
desalination plants in the MENA region and internationally. In fact,
the company has also begun preparing the operational side of
the business, with site and equipment set-up ongoing within the
BWTC premises. Machinery for the first line of the facility has been
delivered from our US counterpart in the project.

On another note, this year saw completion of construction of the
first two commercial buildings in the Tameer Commercial District on
Istiglal Road, with an additional six showroom spaces under way.
The Al Noor development (Al Luizi) witnessed a revamp and re-
launch, with a significant number of the land plots sold, which we
are quite pleased with considering market conditions. Also, within
our ongoing business achievements in the successful conclusion
of phase 1 of construction on the BIW Labor Accommodations
project. The facility is ready to house up to 4000 employees, with
the second phase aiming to house an additional 3000 people.
Progress was also seen on construction of the Business Park
within BIW which will provide investors with pre-serviced spaces
to support their commercial activities within the area.

In terms of new projects, this year saw the launch of Takhzeen,
a self storage facility, designed to service personal, business
and document storage requirements. Construction on the self
storage site has already commenced, with launch of the fully
operational service envisioned for the second half of 2011. The
designation of an experienced management team to this project
additionally ensures it sets a new service benchmark for the
recently introduced self storage industry in Bahrain.

In terms of subsidiary development, Tamcon, Tameer’'s main
subsidiary achieved a healthy net profit of BD 1.3 million (2009 BD
3.6 million), the equity increased from BD 5.6 million in 2009 to BD
6.9 million and total assets increased from BD 9 million in 2009 to
10.3 million. Paramount, another subsidiary of Tameer, saw a shift
in business focus, with a strategic decision to orient itself towards
facilities management, and away from leasing of properties. The

company has already begun providing its services on Tala Island
in Amwaj.

Significant time and effort has been spent in order to understand
the environment and context in which we are likely to operate in the
forthcoming years. The prudence in our approach to investment
strategy, the due diligence, and risk management undertaken has
given us a portfolio of solid assets and the means to access the
liquidity needed to ensure the continuity of business. We will
continue to pay close attention to our selection of investments,
ensuring that they reflect not only prudent financial prospects, but
also the choices of our pool of investors. The initiatives we continue
with are designed to focus our efforts on chosen growth platforms
and strategic sector selections, on developing closer relationships
with our investors, stronger alliances and partnerships, as well
as streamlined operations and internal synergies. Above all, we
will continue to work with the ongoing belief that innovation and
differentiation will be the markers of our success.

In spite of the economic difficulties of this year, we are proud of
the tangible accomplishments we have made in terms of business
continuity and development. We are confident that our business
is robust enough to enable us to improve our performance in the
coming terms and to capitalize on prosperous and value-adding
opportunities.

On behalf of myself and the executive management, | extend my
sincere appreciation to the shareholders, partners, clients, and
staff members who have diligently worked within their respective
capacities to support and contribute to our success.

We ask God Almighty to continue to guide our steps on the path
to future success.

Vice Chairman & Managing Director's Message
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Keeping up the Pace

Despite a significantly difficult financial year, Inovest has and
continues to seek a growth strategy inspired by shareholder
value generation, consistently excellent executions, and greater
innovation in its investment choices. This year, Inovest made
substantial progress in several of its projects in spite of market
and investor conditions. This is a testament of the company’s
overall sustainability, cost efficacy, and productivity improvements.
With this in mind, Inovest renews its goals for growth in 2011.
To do this, Inovest is increasingly delivering at a total company
level, leveraging synergies with Tameer and its other subsidiaries.
To follow are some highlights of the company’s perseverance in
delivering progress this year within a number of our projects.
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Tameer Commercial
District

The Tameer Commercial District is located on the industrious
Al Istiglal Avenue, Bahrain. This year saw the completion of two
commercial buildings comprised of ground and mezzanine retail
space, and first floor office space. The buildings were successfully
sold to a corporate entity. Construction has also commenced on
six other buildings with ground and mezzanine floors designed
for retail/commercial use, all of which are slotted for sale or rent.
Specific land plots in the district are additionally available for
sale.
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Takhzeen
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Al Noor

Al Noor (Luzi) master plan was launched with staggering success;
the marketing campaign offers residential lands catering to the
local middle-income population. This has brought about much
exposure to the area and given rise to the demand for the
acquisition and development of neighboring lands into residential
communities
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BIW Labour
Accommodation

BIW Labour Accommodation is fast becoming a model residential
community for industrial workers; setting a new benchmark for
labour accommodation and supporting amenities. The project
provides 77 high quality accommodation blocks ranging from three
to five floors. Having started construction in 2008, this year saw the
completion of phase 1 of the BIW Labour Accommmodation blocks
and buyers moving in, creating a well structured labour community
of over 3000 workers. Phase 2 of the project is ongoing, and sales
for the available residential blocks are also in full swing.
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Bahrain Water

Technology Company
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The Bahrain Water Technology Co. (BWTC) is a first of its kind
manufacturing facility for the production of water filter cartridges
designed for use in the household, industrial and commercial
sectors, including desalination plants in the MENA region and
internationally. Capital raising has been completed and operational
works are in progress with machine deliveries and equipment
set-up underway at the BWTC premise, and production set to
commence in the second half of 2011.
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Corporate Governance Report

Inovest is committed to its mandate of meeting global best prac-
tices and regulatory requirements in regards to corporate gover-
nance; seeking to promote the levels of transparency, corporate
fairness, and accountability within the organization. The compa-
ny’s philosophy towards corporate governance ties in well with
these values and those of the organization. Inovest has in this
year continued to strengthen its corporate governance agenda, in-
troducing and instating policies and initiatives aimed at ensuring
awareness of the importance of appropriate policies, procedures,
and behavior across the board.

Governance Framework

Inovest has established a framework that provides guidance for
the effective governance of the Company. The company’s gover-
nance structure reflects the segregation of functions and responsi-
bilities at the Board and Management level, with each clearly
aware and capable of fulfilling their relevant roles and responsibili-
ties. This includes policies, procedures, guidelines and relevant
management reporting designed to provide reasonable assurance
to the Board in monitoring the governance practices within the
company. It also means the necessary and appropriate manage-
ment structure is in place and equipped to perform the day-to-day
task of managing and running Inovest across all business capaci-
ties. Inovest is committed to continuously reviewing and enhanc-
ing its corporate governance policies and to incorporating neces-
sary improvements from time to time.

Shareholders
As of January 2011, Inovest’s major shareholding (5% and above)
structure was as follows:

Shareholder No of Shares S?%es

Al Muthana Investment Co. | Kuwaiti 48,398,427 | 16.89%
Kuwait Finance House Kuwaiti 26,341,695 | 9.19%
Dubai Islamic Bank PJS UAE 19,748,883 | 6.89%
National Investment Co Kuwait 16,100,000 | 5.62%

Board of Directors and Board Committee Memberships
Inovest is governed by an elected board of directors, who are
ultimately responsible for the management and performance of the
Company. The current Board was elected by shareholders at the
general assembly on February 19th, 2008 for a fixed term of three
years valid until the Annual General Meeting due in 2011. The only
change to the board membership has been the resignation of Mr.
Ayman Kamal’s and the replacement of his post within the Board
and committees by independent member Mr. Abdulrahman
Fakhro.

Corporate Governance

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the strategic orientation of the com-
pany as translated into its structural organization, the approval of
macro-policies and procedures, the integrity and sound industry
acumen behind the company’s business and investment deci-
sions, as well as monitoring the progress of such business deci-
sions and their related performance levels. New Board members
are informed of their roles and responsibilities as Board members
as well as their duties within Committee memberships.

Board Committee Memberships

The Board has constituted a number of committees with pre-
scribed authorities, and with the delegated responsibility of assist-
ing the Board in carrying out its duties and to enhance the effec-
tiveness of the Board. Committee members receive timely
updates on business developments, which are often supplement-
ed at the time of the meeting.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee serves to assist the Board to co-ordi-
nate, guide and monitor the management and performance, as
well as the investment decisions of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committees tasks lie in supporting the Board in fulfill-
ing its oversight responsibilities with regard to the Company’s in-
ternal audit and internal control systems as a whole.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has the overall responsibility for
evaluating and approving compensation plans, policies and pro-
grams of the Company.

Report
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Memberships of these committees are as follows:

Executive

Samir Al-Nafisi - Chairman
Ahmed Al Qattan - Vice Chairman
Ayman Kamal (Resigned)

Talal Al Nisif

Audit

Fareed Al Fozan - Chairman
Adel Al-Nafisi - Vice Chairman
Jamal Abdulrahman Al-Rowaiyeh
Faisal Abdulla Al-Khazam

Remuneration

Faisal Al-Khazam — Chairman
Adel Al-Nafisi - Vice Chairman
Jamal Al-Rowaiyeh

Ayman Kamal (Resigned)

Saleh Al-Khamees

Directors:
Samir Yaqoob Al-Nafisi - Board Chairman
Non-executive Director

Mr. Al-Nafisi has extensive management experience in a number
of different sectors including trading, manufacturing and financial
services. He is currently General Manager of Yagoob Al-Nafisi &
Sons Company, and former General Manager of Al-Nafisi Trading
Company, both based in Kuwait.

Prior to this, he held managerial positions at Kuwait Commercial
Bank and Kuwait Insulating Materials Manufacturing Company. Mr.
Al-Nafisi has equally extensive experience of serving on the Boards
of numerous financial institutions and companies in the GCC.

He is currently the Chairman of Al Khalegj Development Company
(Bahrain), Muthana Investment Company (Kuwait), Vice Chairman
of Kuwait Finance House (Kuwait), and formerly a Board member
of Gulf Investment House (Kuwait), and Khaleeji Commmercial Bank
(Bahrain), Gulf Finance House (Bahrain), and International Turnkey
Systems (Kuwait).

Ahmed Al-Qattan - Vice Chairman and Managing Director
Executive Director

A Certified Public Accountant from Georgia State Board of
Accountancy, USA, Mr. Al- Qattan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Accounting from the University of Bahrain.

Mr. Al Qattan has extensive experience in the banking,
manufacturing, oil and gas, trading and contracting sectors across
the GCC.

Before joining Inovest, he was Chief Investment Officer at Gulf
Finance House and, prior to this, a Partner at Arthur Andersen in
the Kingdom of Bahrain. Mr. Al- Qattan is Chairman of Bahrain
Investment Wharf and Vice Chairman of Tala Property Development
Company.

Talal Khalid Al Nesf - Board Member

Non-executive Director

A professional with more than 18 years experience in various
banking, finance and investment fields, Mr. Al-Nisif heads the
Private Banking Department at Kuwait Finance House (Kuwait),
considered as one of the leading Islamic banks in the region.

Mr. Al-Nisif is a member on the executive committee for
enhancement of fund’s base and a chartered wealth manager and
a registered financial specialist from the American Academy of
Financial Management.

Mr. al-Nisif serves as a member of various companies including
KFH Asset Management SDN BHD (Malaysia), Aviation Lease and
Finance Co. (ALAFCO) (Kuwait), and Al Salam International
Hospital Co. (Kuwait).

Mr. Al-Nisif graduated with a Bachelor Degree in Commerce from
Kuwait University.

Ayman Adel Kamal - Board Member
Non-executive Director

With over 28 years of experience in the financial sector, of which
the most recent have been in direct investments within his capacity
as Chief of Investments and Real Estate at Dubai Islamic Bank.
Mr. Kamal also has considerable experience within the fields of
corporate banking, real estate and investment.

Mr. Kamal holds numerous non-executive director board
memberships in both the financial and realty sectors, including in
Bank of Khartoum (Sudan), Saba Islamic Bank (Yemen), Ejar
Cranes and Heavy Equipment (UAE), Arab Heavy Equipment and
Leasing (Saudi Arabia), Modern Tanmia for Real Estate Investment
(Egypt), Modern Tatweer for Real Estate Investment (Egypt),
Modern Tameer for Real Estate Investment (Egypt), and Al Islami
Aircraft Leasing (Bermuda).

Mr. Kamal holds a Bachelor Degree in Finance from Ain Shams
University in Cairo, Egypt
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Saleh Turky Al-Khamees- Board Member
Non-executive Director

A holder of a Master Degree in Business Administration from Ku-
wait Maastricht Business School and a Bachelor Degree in Me-
chanical Engineering from King Fahd University of Petroleum &
Minerals.

Mr. Al-Khamees joined GIH in 2001 and is currently the Vice Presi-
dent of Investment Funds. Prior to that, Mr. Al-Khamees worked
at National Industrial Group (NIC). Mr. Al-Khamees is also a Board
Member of Arkan Al-Kuwait Co.

Fareed Soud Al Fozan - Board Member
Non-executive Director

Farid Saud Al-Fozan is currently the Vice-chairman of Gulf Group
Holding Company a Kuwaiti based company that owns a number
of specialist companies strategically located throughout the GCC
countries.

He is a board member on a number of investment, real estate and
financial companies, namely: Boubyan Bank (Kuwait), Gulf Real
Estate (Saudi Arabia), Amlak Real Estate Co. (Kuwait) SAFCORP
(Kuwait) and Al Khaleej Development Company BSC (Bahrain).

He is also the Chairman of Young Arab Leaders Organization
Kuwait Chapter (an NGO). Mr. Al-Fozan graduated from Kuwait
University with a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration
majoring in Banking and Finance.

Adel Yaqgoob Al-Nafisi - Board Member
Non-executive Director

Mr. Al-Nafisi has over 33 years experience in the real estate
market, he is currently the Managing Director of Yagoob Al Nafisi
& Sons Company in Kuwait.

Prior to this he held managerial positions at Al-Nafisi Trading
Company and Commercial Portfolio Company (Kuwait). Mr. Al-
Nafisi served as a board member of International Financial Advisors
Company (IFA) a listed Company on the Kuwaiti Stock Exchange
and is also a member of the Foreign Investment Company
Committee of (IFA).

He also served as a Board Member of the Real Estate Construction
& Manufacturing Co. (Kuwaiti closed joint stock company). Mr. Al-
Nafisi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration from
the University of Cairo.

Jamal Abdul Rahman Al-Rowaiyeh- Board Member
Non-executive Director

Mr. Al-Rowaih has over 25 years of experience in the real estate
sector, managing the extensive Al-Rowaih family real estate
portfolio.

He also holds the position of General Manager in Razan General
Trading and Contracting and Razan International Real Estate
specializing in various real estate trading, acquisitions, leasing and
management of properties.

Mr. Al-Rowaih also founded and contributed to a number of
project funds in various sectors such as real estate, industrial and
finance with a regional spread in Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Lebanon,
Dubai and Oman.

Mr. Al-Rowaih graduated in 1980 with Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration Faculty of Commerce and Economics
and Political Science from Kuwait University.

Faisal Abdulla Al-Khazam - Board Member
Non-executive Director

Mr. Al Khazam has served as Chairman of Gulf Investment House
since 2004, and has over 35 years of experience in the field.

Mr. Al Khazam holds graduate degrees from both the Military
College in Kuwait and from Staff College in London.

Mr. Al Khazam'’s previous engagements include a post as Board
Chairman and Managing Director of the Kuwaiti Livestock Trading
and Transport Company, as Director of Real Estate Management
in Kuwait Finance House, and Acting Director of the Department of
Officer Affairs in the Kuwaiti armed forces .

Mr. Al Khazam, has also held Board memberships in a variety of
other companies.

Abdulrahman Fakhro- Board Member
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Fakhro has a long standing and successful history as a board
member and executive within numerous organizations. Mr. Fakhro
is the current Chairman of Yusif Bin Yusif Fakhro B. S. C . (¢(and
of the Bahrain Commercial Facilities Company. Additionally he is a
Board Member in the Bahrain Flour Mills Co. B.S.C. and in General
Organization for Social Insurance ( SIO ); in the latter he also holds
the position of Investment Committee Chairman.

Shariah Advisor
Sh. Dr. Farid Mohammed Hadi

Board Executive Secretary
Riyadh Mahmood
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Committee Attendance

ST Audit Committee

Meetings

Board Members Board Meetings Committee
Meetings

Samir Yagoob Al-Nafisi
Board Chairman

Chairman of the Executive 5(9) 31
Committee

Ahmed Al-Qattan

Vice Chairman and Managing 55 3

Director
Executive Committee Member

Fareed Soud Al Fozan
Board Member 4 (5) 3(3)
Chairman of the Audit committee

Ayman Adel Kamal
Board Member 1(5) 1(3)
Executive Committee Member

Talal Khalid Al Nisif
Board Member 5 (5) 3(3)
Executive Committee Member

Saleh Turky Al-Khamees
Board Member 5 (5) 3(3)
Executive Committee Member

Adel Yagoob Al-Nafisi
Board Member 4 (5) 23
Audit Committee Member

Jamal Abdulrahman Al-Rowaiyeh
Board Member 5 (5) 3(3)
Audit Committee Member

Faisal Abdulla Al-Khazam
Board Member 2 (5) 2 (3)
Audit Committee Member

Abdulrahman Fakhro Appointed Appointed
Board Member 28/04/2010 25/05/2010
Executive Committee Member 4 (5) 1)

Note: Mr. A. Rahman Fakhro is an independent board member /Mr. Ayman Kamal’s resignation date: 05.04.2010
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The Management

Inovest’s executive management handles the day-to-day operation
and performance of the company and each of its subsidiaries,
advising the Board of developments and progress.

Management Committees

The board delegates the authority and responsibility of day to day
management to the CEO, who in turn uses a number of cross-
functional teams to ensure financial and non-financial
performance:

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)

The Asset and Liability Committee manages the asset and liability
structure of Inovest, as well as the liquidity and the funding
strategy of the Company. This involves monitoring and reviewing
the financial risks and ensuring that appropriate strategies exist for
management of the Company’s assets, liabilities and capital.

Executive Management Committee

The Executive Management Committee oversees the management
of the Company’s administrative, financial, legal and information
technology functions effectively.

Investment Management Committee

The Investment Management Committee oversees the
management’s investment of Company’s cash, short term and
long term investments in the operation of the business of the
Company.

Membership of the aforementioned committees is as follows:

Investment
Management

Executive

(ALCO) Management

Asset-Liability

Ahmed Al Qattan Chairman Chairman Chairman
Dr Khalid Abdulla Member Member Member
Laith Al Memar Member
Mohammed Abdulla Isa Member Member
Sushil Kumar Member Member
Hazim Buali Member Member
Mohammed Abulkhalig Member Member
Hamad Zainalabedeen Non-voting

Member
Mohammed Al-Abbasi Member

Management Directors

Dr Khalid Abdulla
Chief Executive Officer

Dr Khalid Abdulla joins Inovest from his previous post as the
inaugural Chief Executive Officer of Reef Real Estate Finance
Company BSC; creating in his time there one of Bahrain’s more
recognized brands in the real estate finance sector. Before this, Dr
Khalid was Assistant General Manager of Business Development
in BBK, a post which positioned him at the forefront of project
development and change management, including projects on
regional expansion. Dr Khalid also held the post of Assistant
Professor and Chairman of the Department of Economics and
Finance at the University of Bahrain, bringing a background of
academia to practical use with his career progression.

Dr Khalid has a number of affiliations, including Vice Chairman of
the Economic & Financial Studies Committee, as member of the
National Committee on World Trading Organization, and member
of the Bahrain Economic Society.

Dr Khalid’s academic background includes an M.Sc in Economic
Development from the University of East Anglia, UK and a PhD in
Economics obtained from Exeter University, UK.

Mohamed Abdulla Isa
Chief Financial Officer

Mohamed Isa joined Inovest in September 2004. Since he joined
this company, he played an instrumental role in achieving several
corporate milestones such as handling the company’s Initial Public
Offering, its cross-listing on Kuwait Stock Exchange its Rights
Issue, the re-launch of its new corporate identity and its corporate
restructuring program.

Before joining Inovest, he worked for the multinational giant —
Unilever — in its offices in United Arab Emirates and Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia. His last post with the company was Regional
Finance Manager for North Africa, Middle East and Turkey.

Mohamed is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) from Colorado
State Board of Accountancy in USA. He also holds a BSc in
Accounting from University of Bahrain and a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) from University of Hull in UK.
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Hazim Abdul Aziz Buali
Executive Director — Investment

Prior to joining Inovest, Mr. Buali headed the Asset Management
department at United Gulf Bank, where he managed the bank’s
proprietary portfolio and designed Fund of Fund products which
focused on alternative and regional investments. This position
came after 7 years in London during which he was involved almost
entirely with Hedge Funds; first while with Baring Asset
Management (2000 — 2004) and then with a private family office
where he exclusively managed a sizeable portfolio of hedge funds
and served on an Investment Committee which oversaw private
equity and real estate investments.

Sushil Kumar Jain
Executive Director - Private Equity and post Acquisition

Sushil Kumar Jain is a Qualified Chartered Accountant, Cost &
Management Accountant, Bachelor of Commerce, and Indian Civil
Services qualified, with distinctions & scholarships. He brings to
Inovest 27 years of GCC experience with reputable financial
institutions, investment banks, and groups.

Sushil Kumar Jain’s previous posts include Director- Chief Financial
Officer TAIB Bank BSC (C), Principal - Head of Risk Management
IIB, and several other senior positions with reputable investment
banks and groups

Mohammed Abdulkhaliq
Executive Director — Business Development

Prior to joining the group in 2004, Mr. Abdul Khalig held a number
of management positions with Bahrain Kuwait Insurance Company
in the Kingdom of Bahrain. He also served as Chairman of the
Market Committee for Property and Casualty Insurance in Bahrain.
His current Board memberships include Chairman of Coldwell
Banker Bahrain, and Vice Chairman of Adhari Park Development
Company, Board member of Bahrain Investment Wharf Company.

Mr. Abdul Khalig is an Associate of the Chartered Insurance
Institute (ACIl), UK. He also holds a B.Sc. degree in Civil
Engineering from the University of Bahrain, and a member of
Bahrain Society of Engineers

Hamad Zainalabedeen
Head of Internal Audit

Hamad Zainalabedeen joined Inovest BSC (“Inovest”) in 2009 as
the Head of Internal Audit Department. Hamad has extensive
experience of working in financial institutions and professional
world-renowned audit firms over the last 11 years. Prior to joining
Inovest, Hamad was the Senior Principal of Investment Dar Bank’s
Internal Audit Department where he setup the Internal Audit
framework and conducted internal audit assignments aided by a
risk-based internal audit plan, with periodic tracking and statistical
reporting system for audit issues. Hamad has also worked as a
Principal with Gulf Finance House’s Internal Audit Department.
Before that, Hamad was working with Ernst & Young and Arthur

Andersen as an external auditor where he was exposed to
statutory audits of Islamic Investment banks, manufacturing
entities, government organizations and other industries.

Hamad holds an Executive MBA and Bachelors of Science in
Accounting from the University of Bahrain and has been honored
by the Kingdom of Bahrain’s Prime Minister for excellence in
studies.

Mohammed Al-Abbasi
Head of Risk and compliance

Mohammed Al-Abbasi brings to Inovest over 11 years of
experience in Banking, with a strong focus on Product Knowledge,
IT Knowledge, Compliance, Risk Management and Business
Development Processes. He was a Director — Head of Risk &
Compliance at ProCapital Associates prior to joining Inovest on
April 2010, in which he established the Operations, Risk
Management and Compliance departments. Mr. Al-Abbasi began
his career with BBK in 1999 in IT Development then moved to
Business Development.

Mr. Al-Abbasi is an MBA holder and he is a Certified Risk Analyst
(CRA) from the American Academy of Financial Management. He
also holds a B.Sc. degree in Computer Science from the University
of Bahrain.

Risk Management

The Board has the overall responsibility for establishing the group’s
risk management culture and ensuring that an effective framework
is in place. Risk is an inherent part of Inovest’s businesses and
acknowledging and managing appropriate risk levels is critical to
the Company’s continuing success and profitability. As such,
Inovest proactively identifies, assesses, manages and monitors
risks in its decisions and operations with specific consideration to
credit risk, market risk, liquidity, and operational risk. Active
involvement of the Board and senior management in the risk
management process is vital to the development of an effective
control environment.

Internal Control

In pursuing its strategy and business plan, Inovest inevitable relies
on its internal control to provide reasonable, though not absolute,
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial statements.
The company has invested in ensuring the means of safeguarding,
verifying and maintaining accountability. The internal control also
works to detect fraud, potential liability, loss and material
misstatement, all the while complying with applicable laws and
regulations.

Code of Conduct

Inovest has a board-approved Code of Conduct that dictates the
policies and procedures governing ethical behavior, best practice
obligations, honesty, transparency, confidentiality issues, money-
laundering, and prohibition of insider trading, amidst many
numerous others. The Code of Conduct is readily available to all
new and existing staff of Inovest, and its subsidiaries, in both
English and Arabic.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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In the name of Allah, the Beneficent, the Merciful,

Prayers and Peace Upon the Last Apostle and Messenger, Our Prophet Mohammed, His Relatives and
Companions.

The Shari’a Advisor of INOVEST B.S.C. has reviewed the Company activities and compared them with the
issued Fatwas and Rulings during the financial year ending 31st December 2010 and found them compatible
with them.

The Shari’a Advisor believes that he has expressed his opinion in respect of the activities carried out by
INOVEST and it is the responsibility of the management to ensure the implementation of such decisions.

A representative of the company’s management explained and clarified the contents of the Financial Statements
for the year ending 31st December 2010. The report of the Sharia Advisor has been prepared based on the
information provided by the company.

The Advisor is satisfied that the activities and services carried by INOVEST are in compliance with the Glorious
Islamic Sharia’a.

Praise be to Allah, Lord of the Worlds. Prayers be upon Prophet Mohammed Peace Be Upon Him, Relatives
and Companions.

SH. Dr. Fareed Mohammed Hadi
Sharia Advisor

Sharia Advisor's Report
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BDO

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Shareholders’ of Inovest BSC

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Inovest BSC (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2010, the consolidated statement of income, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the
consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of sources and uses of charity fund for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Respective responsibilities of the Board of Directors and auditors

These consolidated financial statements and the Group’s undertaking to operate in accordance with Islamic
Sharia’a rules and principles are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of the Group. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Auditing Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing
Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the results of its consolidated operations,
the changes in its consolidated cash flows and sources and uses of charity fund for the year then ended in
accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for
Islamic Financial Institutions and Sharia’a rules and principles as determined by the Sharia’a Advisor of the
Group.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further, as required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001, Decree Number 21 of 2001, in the case of
the Company, we report that:

(1) We have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;

(2) The Company has maintained proper books of account and the financial statements are in agreement
therewith; and

(8) The financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account of the
Company.

In addition to what has been explained in Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements, we report that nothing
has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Company has breached any of the applicable provisions
of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001, Decree Number 21 of 2001, the Central Bank of Bahrain and
Financial Institutions Law 2006, or of its Memorandum and Articles of Association, which would materially affect its
activities, or its financial position as at 31 December 2010.

BD o

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
9 February 2011
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Inovest BSC
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

Notes 2010 2009
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 7 17,283 36,955
Mudaraba and Murabaha investments 8 8,170 -
Trade and other receivables 9 77,588 107,957
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 = 3,148
Available-for-sale investments 11 35,242 32,419
Investment in a joint venture/associates 12 96,414 99,907
Investment properties 13 120,145 139,998
Properties under development 14 6,534 3,417
Property, plant and equipment 15 8,005 4,719
Total assets 369,381 428,520
LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 16 92,347 120,400
ljara and Murabaha financing 17 71,994 70,473
Total liabilities 164,341 190,873
EQUITY
Share capital 18 114,604 107,107
Less: treasury shares 18 (651) (1,488)
113,953 105,619
Share premium 30,760 29,962
Statutory reserve 19 21,473 21,473
Share option reserve 19 1,635 1,144
Retained earnings 37,319 79,449
Total equity 205,040 237,647
Total liabilities and equity 369,381 428,520

These consolidated financial statements, set out on pages 17 to 54, were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 9 February 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

___»Q e

Samir Yagoob Al-Nafisi Ahmed Rashed Al-Qattan
Chairman Vice-Chairman and Managing Director
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Inovest BSC

Consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in US$000’s)

Notes 2010 2009

Income
(Loss)/income from properties 20 (20,792) 3,176
Income from investments 21 211 1,891
Income from advisory services 22 1,364 10,953
Net income from construction contracts 23 4,896 10,551
Income from sale of lease/project rights 24 744 11,162
Share of (loss)/profit from investment in a joint

venture/associates 12 (23) 1,937
Other income 25 565 397
Total (loss)/income (13,035) 40,067
Expenses
Staff costs 26 (7,930) (8,050)
General and administrative expenses (4,749) (7,087)
ljara and Murabaha financing costs (5,787) (7,049)
Lease payments (1,294) (8,791)
Property related expenses (272) (935)
Depreciation 15 (1,451) (727)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale-investments 11 (860) (1,100)
Total expenses (21,843) (28,739)
Net (loss)/profit for the year (34,878) 11,328
Basic and diluted earnings per share 27 (12.25) cents 4.03 cents
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Inovest BSC
Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

Share

Share  Treasury Share  Statutory . Retained
Notes . X option . Total
capital shares  premium reserve earnings
reserve

At 31 December 2008 97,370 (2,973) 27,345 20,340 1,634 109,368 253,084
Net profit for the year - - - - - 11,328 11,328
Bonus shares issued 18 9,737 (297) - - - (9,440) -
Dividends paid for the year

2008 18 - - - - - (29,211)  (29,211)
Directors’ remuneration paid
for the year 2008 18 - - - - - (585) (585)
Transferred to statutory

reserve 19 - - - 1,133 - (1,133) -
Shares issued to employees - 1,782 1,107 - - (378) 2,511
Transferred to share premium

from share option reserve - - 1,510 - (1,510 - -
Stock option charge 26 - - - - 1,020 - 1,020
Transferred to charity fund for

the year 2008 18 - = = = = (500) (500)
At 31 December 2009 107,107 (1,488) 29,962 21,473 1,144 79,449 237,647
Net loss for the year - - - - - (34,878) (34,878)
Bonus shares issued 18 7,497 43) - - - (7,454) -
Directors’ remuneration paid

for the year 2009 18 - - - - - (261) (261)
Shares issued to employees - 880 335 - - 463 1,678
Transferred to share premium

from share option reserve - - 463 - (463) - -
Stock option charge 26 - - - - 854 - 854
At 31 December 2010 114,604 (651) 30,760 21,473 1,635 37,319 205,040

19 Inovest BSC Anuual Report 2010



o.Ub Cogi]
Al oy Plow dadioll Al duad il b oaill angoll Yl
(A LoVl illgall Lol Ao &uoll)

rq Rl Glalayl
Gl _los)l 6 inuiiil
(LA (P€,AVA) &l eUji /7 (Sla) udla
Lol
I9€ 19EN 10 GV
I NOE M ol s Cjlno
(19PV) e Ir Alyojuilapb / @yithio Equiio ud Whlodiwl (o A pill (eU)l) / s dinn
V€9 OVAV dubgoi)l Gl ol UAgLHq 6 )laul Lo LA
q (9) ) WlaogWMlWAlio o S&uio 6l / (ag))
r PV B )]l gl AupPUdarn o Walsdl doudIu dllodl ilagagoll (o Ao G960 Sl
() (V) g e Ulloiiwl Ew o G880 wlao
FAIV 0,1 g gyl Glloiiw A8 ~ ol e daledl doudl s
- M rl Sl 616910 Wlloiiwl Ew Lo G890 il
ooV = I\ 623110 Al dord)U dlloll Wlagagell 468 Aol jie Aalsdl Aosd)lnlao
Sl of aupu
(rvr) s I U 63310 Aall GoudIU dwlo Wiagago Ewlo G898~ o (Lwlao) / Sl
&yl of
- (@) (l Aiojula iy /eyl Equito Lo Whlediwl J)gaiio AbénaoLlho
[+ P [ Gl 63010l Wljlodiwll ;b UALR AT Sl
Wlilo=lU @811 oll Cibglihollg Cilagagoll Lo Clpill
(var) (PI1V) 3 polillciajulléc
(Al GIVA Gl disao dujlai ool
(0r,000) (CN,0F) Gralg difla dujlai oo
(Vor1) (L) Wllos)l daiiiil 6 doar i oll Gad il Kl oxill
(V,£9) (ONAV) degoroll dubigoill daulioll UAgLg 8)layl LaULAj
((R'D) (1V[0+) Wllosl dlniiiil (6 doaAiuioll Auad il b oxill oln
Q)jlodiwVl dnuiiill
(€,0Pr) (1) Sl 616qi0 Cljlodiwl ol
(P,EP) = &)l ol QupU 330 @alsdl Goud)U dlo Wilagago ol i
1.0 [P Sl 610qio Wljloiiwl Ewirto Jnaoll
POV [, AVA Syl of aupl 6ax o Aalsl dordIl Ao Kilagngo &u o Jianell
- (r,€9M) Ayojulaph / Wyithio Eqpuiio b Wllodiwy el i)l AQ1A]
AT ravq Ir Aiojwlapis / ¢yitiio Eguito (Lo dolinio oauwl eUjl
- (oVan) e Ollodiwl ol
£, I,,ONE dujlée Ullodiwl & o Juanoll
WE (AIVY) dnlpollg dyjliroll Wljlodiwl o il oln
(E,P) (0,0:1) 0 WlasoqullaslAlioo el
IPr N WlasoguVlWlAlico &uito Jrnnoll
1LECA (0,1) ) Lodiwl dniinll (Lo Anilil / (b doaAiuioll) Auad il ilboxill oln
dubgoill dlauiiilll
GED) Lol dubigoil dulpoll UAgLd9 &)l (Lo (Egoa0ll) / Junaoll Holn
(ra,rin . I Uroalinoll d4a6ieljl &ujgl
r.ol. VA (@ hgoll dagiool ool
(0N0) (@) I Gegoaoll 6)layl yulao LAcl ogu)
(0.) = I\ degoro A cileyi
(ONAIV) FaFA dulygoil @il (b doavinoll) / (o Al @adill Wl ol oln
(r,£09) (190vr) a8l apig Gadill o.b Uadill pbln
q9,€1€ #1900 Al dylay o Lo dyadill auiig dya il
F1300 IV, AP v il yla oo Lo @adill aubo @Qadill

Wadill pé wllo=ll

anl Jugni dulocq Alioj Wlapb / Wyiliio Equilo Wb Whlediwllg &bl 616qioll Wilodiwll daléo duloc wlwinl i) oJ
ool dyguniy )l e Wijlodiwl elpb Ailocqdliojwla i /&yt o Equilo u6 Wljlodiwl O] &) 616qio Wil (Lo Wijlodiwl

Aadi e wldoe Wl Cuun adiluléonill angoll Ul oo (IFgIr Il elay)) diyaoll

ol ol a8l oy gl

r.



Inovest BSC
Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

Notes 2010 2009
Operating activities
Net (loss)/profit for the year (34,878) 11,328
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 15 1,948 1,194
Stock option charge 26 854 1,020
Share of loss/(profit) from investment in a joint venture/associates 12 23 (1,937)
liara and Murabaha financing costs 5,787 7,049
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (©)] 9
Exchange loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 37 62
Realised losses on sale of investment properties 20 (1,772) (1,001)
Unrealised fair value losses on investment properties 20 25,030 3,617
Realised gains on sale of available-for-sale investments 21 29 -
Unrealised fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 10 - 557
Realised losses/(gains) on sale of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 10 233 (272)
Realised gains on sale of investment in a joint venture/associates 21 (13) -
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 11 360 1,100
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Properties under development 14 (3,117) (793)
Trade and other receivables 22,178 23,631
Trade and other payables (28,053) (52,585)
Cash used in operating activities (11,363) (7,021)
liara and Murabaha financing costs paid (5,787) (7,049)
Net cash used in operating activities (17,150) (14,070)
Investing activities
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (2,210) (4,532)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 - (3,403)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments 1,000 105
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 2,878 3,676
Cost of acquisition of investment in a joint venture/associates (2,498) -
Dividends received from a joint venture/associates 12 3,979 9,629
Purchase of investment properties (5,798) -
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 10,584 2,060
Net movement in Mudaraba and Murabaha investments (8,170) 6,764
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (5,501) (4,003)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 276 132
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (5,460) 10,428
Financing activities
Net proceeds from/(repayment of) ljara and Murabaha financing 1,521 (31,031)
Dividends paid 18 - (29,211)
Shares issued to employees 1,678 2,510
Directors’ remuneration paid 18 (261) (585)
Contribution to charity fund 18 - (500)
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 2,938 (58,817)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (19,672) (62,459)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 36,955 99,414
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 7 17,283 36,955

Non-cash transactions:

The non-cash transaction of transfer of available-for-sale investments and investment in a joint venture/associates, the
transfer of an investment from available-for-sale investments to investments in joint venture/associates and the purchase
of investment properties to the extent of settlement of receivables (Note 11, 12 and 13) have been excluded from the
consolidated statement of cash flows as being non-cash transactions.
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Inovest BSC

Consolidated statement of sources and uses of charity fund
for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Expressed in US$000's)

2010 2009
Sources of charity fund
Contribution by the Company - 500
Total sources - 500
Uses of charity fund
Contributions to charitable activities (89) (80)
Total uses (89) (30)
Excess of (uses over sources)/sources over uses (89) 470
Undistributed charity fund at 1 January 1,140 670
Undistributed charity fund at 31 December 1,051 1,140

Inovest BSC Anuual Report 2010
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

1 Organisation and activities

Inovest BSC (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries comprise “the Group”. The Company is a public shareholding company
registered with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce in the Kingdom of Bahrain and operates under commercial registration
number 48848 obtained on 18 June 2002. The Company commenced commercial operations on 1 October 2002. Under the
terms of its Memorandum and Articles of Association, the duration of the Company is for 50 years, renewable for further similar
periods unless terminated earlier by the operation of law or as provided in the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The Company is listed on the Bahrain Stock Exchange and cross-listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange.

The Company has been issued an Investment Business Firm License — Category 1 (Islamic Principles) by the Central Bank of
Bahrain (CBB), to operate under the Islamic Sharia’a principles, and is supervised and regulated by the CBB.

The principal activities of the Company include:

- Engaging directly in all types of investments, including direct investment and securities, and various types of investment
funds.

- Establishing and managing various investment funds.

- Dealing in financial instruments in the local, regional and international markets.

- Providing information and studies related to different types of investments for others.

- Providing financial services and investment consultations to others.

- Establishing joint ventures with real estate, industrial and services companies inside or outside the Kingdom of Bahrain
and committing to operate under the Islamic Sharia’a principles.

- Having interest or participating in any way with companies and other entities engaged in similar activities that may
work and co-operate to achieve the Company’s objectives inside and outside the Kingdom of Bahrain, and also
merge its activities with the above mentioned entities and/or buy or join with them.

Although the Company has an Investment Business Firm License — Category 1 (Islamic Principles) issued by the Central Bank
of Bahrain (CBB) in September 2008, it continued to hold real estate assets and related revenues and costs in its consolidated
financial statements. These assets existed prior to obtaining the license from the CBB. The Company has transferred most of
its real estate assets and the related revenues and costs and is in the process of transferring the remaining real estate assets
and related revenues to its fully owned subsidiary, Al Khaleej Development Co. BSC (c), which primarily carries out real estate
and construction related activities. Since this subsidiary is fully owned by the Company, the real estate assets and revenues
and costs continue to appear in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.
Notes 13, 14, 17, 20 and 23 in these consolidated financial statements reflect the Group’s transactions arising from holding of
real estate assets and their corresponding liabilities and revenues and costs arising therefrom.

The number of staff employed by the Group as at 31 December 2010 was 531 (31 December 2009: 388).

The registered office of the Company is in the Kingdom of Bahrain.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

2 Basis of preparation
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”)
issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (“the AAOIFI”), the Bahrain Commercial
Companies Law, Decree Number 21 of 2001 and the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law 2006. For matters
which are not covered by the AAOIFI standards, International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) have been applied.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment in a joint
venture/associates which are equity accounted and available-for-sale investments, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and investment properties which are stated at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with FAS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Functional currency

United States Dollars is the Group’s functional currency and also the currency in which the Company’s share capital is
denominated. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in United States Dollars.

3 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries,
after elimination of all inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transactions between
the group companies. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no
longer consolidated from the date that control ceases. All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the costs cannot be
recovered. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed, where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Entities controlled by the Group by virtue of holding more than fifty percent of the voting shares are considered as subsidiaries.
Entities over which the Group has significant influence and which are not subsidiaries are considered either as associates or
joint ventures. Associates include entities in which the Group holds twenty percent or more of the voting share capital. A
joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint
control. The Group’s share of income in a joint venture associates is accounted for using the equity method.

The Group does not consolidate its holdings in those entities from which it does not obtain any benefit from its activities and
the investment is held only on behalf, and for the beneficial interest, of third parties.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

The details of the Company’s investment in subsidiaries as at 31 December 2010 are as follows:

Net profit/
Proportion Total assets at (loss) for the
N::Jrg(seigi;the inggfn;gt?;n of ownership Principal activities 31 December year ended
v P interest 2010 31 December
2010
A company established
to hold the Group’s
Tameer for Private Kingdom of 999% shares on behalf of its 652 )
Management WLL Bahrain ¢ employees in respect of
the employees’ stock
option plan
Al Khalegj Kinadom of Management and
Development B%hrain 99.98% development of 225,808 2,036
Co. BSC (¢) properties

The total assets and net profit for the year of the subsidiaries have been extracted from audited financial statements prepared
as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2010.

On 1 January 2010, the Company transferred its shareholdings in Al-Luzi Housing Development Company W.L.L., BIW Business
Park Development Co. W.L.L., Tameer Real Estate Agencies W.L.L., BIW Labour Accommodation Company W.L.L. and Tala
Property Development W.L.L. to its wholly-owned subsidiary — Al-Khaleej Development Company BSC (c) (“Tameer”). This
transaction created an inter-company advance (“the Advance”) between the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Tameer,
which is secured by mortgaging the shares transferred in favour of the Company. Accordingly, the economic benefits and risks
associated with the transferred shareholdings accrue to Tameer with effect from 1 January 2010. Legal formalities are also
completed to affect the transfer with the concerned authorities except for Tameer Real Estate Agencies W.L.L. The transfer of
shareholdings does not affect the consolidated financial position of the Group as a whole, as Tameer’s financial statements are
consolidated with Company’s financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the subsidiaries have been consolidated as though the Company owns 100% of these
subsidiaries, as the other shareholders, hold their shares on behalf, and for the beneficial interest, of the Company.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements is set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank
balances and short-term Murabaha and Murabaha deposits which have a maturity period of 90 days or less.

Murabaha and Murabaha investments and profit

Murabaha and Murabaha investments are accounted for at cost plus margin ‘sales price’. The gains and losses which result
from Murabaha and Murabaha transactions, are recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the
related contracts. Murabaha and Murabaha investments usually have maturity periods ranging between 91 days up to 360
days.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are carried at their anticipated realisable values. An estimate is made for impaired trade receivables based
on a review of all outstanding amounts at the year-end. The requirement of provision for impairment is analysed on a case to
case basis to identify the likely hood of non-recoverability (if any). Bad debts are written-off during the year in which they are
identified.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or if so designated
by management. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at cost and subsequently re-
measured at their fair values. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values are included
in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
These include investments in certain quoted or unquoted securities that the Group will not hold till maturity. Available-for-sale
investments are initially recorded at cost and subsequently remeasured at their fair values. Any changes in fair values of such
investments subsequent to initial recognition are included in the fair value reserve as a part of shareholders’ equity.

All purchases and sales of investments are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Cost of purchase includes transaction costs. Investments are derecognised when the right to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Fair value of investments listed on active markets is determined by reference to the quoted market
prices. The fair value of unquoted securities, where available, is the Group’s proportionate share of the net assets of the
investee company. In the absence of active markets or other appropriate methods from which to derive reliable fair values, the
unquoted securities are stated at cost.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment in joint venture

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities, being entities in which two or more parties contractually agree to share control
over an economic activity, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, as the Group’s management believes
that it exercises joint control, that is the power, directly or indirectly, to jointly govern the financial and operating policies of the
jointly controlled entities. Equity accounting involves recording the interest in the jointly controlled entity, initially at cost, and
adjusting it for the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the results of operations of the jointly controlled entity. The
equity method is applied from the date on which the Group assumes joint control over an entity, and ceases when joint control
is relinquished.

Investment in associates

The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method of accounting. Associates are entities in which
the Group has an interest of between 20% and 50% and has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint
venture.

The investment in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition
changes, less any impairment in value. The consolidated statement of income reflects the share of the results of operations of
the associates. Where there has been a change recognised directly in the associate’s equity, the Group recognises its share of
any changes and discloses this, where applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

Investment properties

Investment properties represent properties (land or building or both) held by the Group to earn rental income or for capital
appreciation or both.

Initially, investment properties are measured at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at their fair values. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are
included in the consolidated statement of income in the year in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when they have either been disposed-off, or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on derecognition of
an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year of derecognition.

Properties under development

Properties under development represent properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business or in the process of
construction and development for its future sale. Properties under development are valued at cost and include expenditure
incurred in the normal course of developing and constructing the property.

Properties under development are derecognised when they have either been disposed-off, or when the property is permanently

withdrawn from use and no future benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on derecognition of a property
under development are recognised in the consolidated statement of income in the year of derecognition.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes all costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write-off the cost of plant and equipment to their estimated residual
values over their expected useful lives as follows:

Building on leasehold land 46 years
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Computer hardware and software 3 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
taken into account in determining net profit.

Repairs and renewals are charged to the consolidated statement of income when the expenditure is incurred.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, and where the carrying values exceed the
estimated recoverable amounts, the property, plant and equipment are written-down to their recoverable amounts.

Islamic financing

Islamic financing towards ljara and Murabaha financing are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs
incurred. In subsequent periods, these are stated at amortised cost, and any differences between proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the repayment amounts are recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the financing.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the supplier
or not.

Provisions

The Group recognises provisions when it has a present legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic benefits as a result
of past events, and a reasonable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each consolidated statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that an
asset is impaired. Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or
delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not otherwise
consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or
other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in
the Group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the Group. In addition, for an investment in an equity security,
a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)
a) Impairment of available-for-sale investments

In the case of investments in equity securities classified as available-for-sale and measured at fair value, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale investments, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the consolidated statement
of income is removed from equity and recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses recognised
in the consolidated statement of income on equity instruments are not subsequently reversed through the consolidated
statement of income. For available-for-sale investments carried at cost, the Group makes an assessment of whether there is an
objective evidence of impairment for each investment by assessment of financial and other operating and economic indicators.
Impairment is recognised if the estimated recoverable amount is assessed to be below the cost of the investment.

b) Impairment of other non-financial assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s assets or its cash generating unit, other than financial assets, are reviewed at each
consolidated statement of financial position date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. A cash generating
unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and
groups. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or a
cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use or fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is recognised whenever
the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses are reversed only if there is an indication that the
impairment loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

Dividends and board remuneration
Dividends to shareholders and Board of Directors’ remuneration are recognised in the period in which they are declared.
Treasury shares

Shares of the Company reacquired at the consolidated statement of financial position date are designated as treasury shares
until these are reissued or cancelled. The nominal value of the treasury shares is shown as a deduction from share capital with
the difference between the nominal value of the shares and the purchase cost being adjusted against the capital reserve. The
gains or losses on sale of treasury shares are recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.

Share based payments

The Group operates a share-based incentive scheme for its employees (“the scheme”) whereby employees are granted the
Group’s shares as compensation on achievement of certain non-market based performance conditions and additional service
conditions (the ‘vesting conditions’)

Equity instruments under the share based transactions are measured as the difference between the fair value of the share-
based payment and the fair value of the identifiable services received at the grant date. The cost of equity-settled transactions
is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in shareholders’ equity, over the period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘the
vesting date’).
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition
a) Income from sale of lease/project rights

Income from sale of lease/project rights is usually recognised when the Group obtains from investors legally binding and
irrevocable commitments to subscribe to investments promoted by the Group. The Group then recognises revenue based on
the pro-rata amounts of such signed subscription agreements as at the consolidated statement of financial position date, and
the terms specified in the related Private Placement Memorandum.

b) Advisory services income and project management fees

Income from advisory services and project management fees are recognised based on the stage of completion of the service
at the consolidated statement of financial position date by reference to the contractual terms between the parties.

c) Rental income

Property rental and service charge income, arising from the letting-out of investment properties to tenants, is recorded based
on the agreement entered into with the tenants and is recognised on the accruals basis.

d) Contract income and costs
Contract income is recognised under the percentage of completion method.

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised by reference to the
stage of physical completion of the contract. Contract income and costs are recognised as income and expenses in the
consolidated statement of income in the accounting year in which the work is performed. The contract income is matched with
the contract costs incurred in reaching the stage of completion, resulting in the reporting of income, expenses and profit which
can be attributed to the proportion of work completed. Profits expected to be realised on construction contracts are based on
estimates of total income and cost at completion.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, the contract income is recognised to the extent of
contract costs incurred up to the year-end where it is probable those costs will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised
when incurred. The excess of progress billings over contract costs is classified under trade and other payables as due to
customers for construction contracts.

Losses on contracts are assessed on an individual contract basis and if estimates of cost to complete the construction
contracts indicate losses, provision is made for the full losses anticipated in the period in which they are first identified.

The aggregate of the costs incurred and the profit/loss recognised on each contract is compared against the progress billings
up to the year end. Where the sum of the costs incurred and recognised profit or loss exceeds the progress billings, the
balance is shown under trade and other receivables as due from customers for construction contracts. Where the progress
billings exceed the sum of costs incurred and recognised profit or loss, the balance is shown under trade and other payables
as due to customers for construction contracts.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
e) Property management fees

Property management fees are recorded based on agreements entered into with the owners of the property and is recognised
on the accruals basis.

f) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.
g) Otherincome

Other income is accounted for on the accruals basis, unless collectibility is in doubt.
Earnings prohibited by Sharia’a

The Group is committed to avoid recognising any income generated from non-Islamic sources. Accordingly, all non-Islamic
income is credited to a charity account where the Group uses these funds for charitable purposes.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent periods, these
are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method; any differences between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income over the period of the borrowings.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in
the consolidated statement of income in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Employee benefits

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is
provided. A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if

the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Post employment benefits

Employee benefits and entitlements to annual leave, holiday, air passage and other short-term benefits are recognised as they
accrue to the employees. The Group contributes to the pension scheme for Bahraini nationals administered by the Social
Insurance Organisation in the Kingdom of Bahrain. This is a defined contribution pension plan and the Group’s contributions
are charged to the consolidated statement of income in the year to which they relate. In respect of this plan, the Group has a
legal obligation to pay the contributions as they fall due and no obligation exists to pay the future benefits.

The expatriate employees of the Group are paid leaving indemnity in accordance with the provisions of the Bahrain Labour Law.
The Group accrues for its liability in this respect on an annual basis.

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Gains and
losses arising from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation, at the year-end rates, of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
makers. The chief operating decision makers have been identified as the Managing Director and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Group.

5 Critical accounting judgment and key source of estimation uncertainty

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. The
determination of estimates requires judgments which are based on historical experience, current and expected economic
conditions, and all other available information. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The most significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to:

- economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment;
- classification of investments;

- fair valuation of investments;

- special purpose entities;

- impairment of investments;

- valuation of investment properties;

- power to exercise significant influence;

- legal proceedings;

- provisions; and

- contingencies.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

5 Critical accounting judgment and key source of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are based on management’s
estimates of the period that the assets will generate revenue, which are periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness.
Changes to estimates can result in significant variations in the carrying value and amounts charged to the consolidated
statement of income in specific periods.

The Group’s property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their economic useful lives.

Economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed by management periodically. The review is based on
the current condition of the assets and the estimated period during which they will continue to bring economic benefit to the
Group.

Classification of investments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management decides on acquisition of an investment whether
it should be classified as investments designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale
investment securities. The classification of each investment reflects the management’s intention in relation to each investment
and is subject to different accounting treatments based on such classification.

Fair valuation of investments

The Group determines fair values of investments that are not quoted in active markets by using valuation techniques such as
discounted cash flows and recent transaction prices. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on market
conditions and information about the investee companies. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties
and matters of significant judgment and therefore, cannot be determined with precision. There is no certainty about future
events (such as continued operating profits and financial strengths). It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge,
that outcomes within the next financial year are different from assumptions that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investments. In case where discounted cash flow models have been used to estimate fair values, the
future cash flows have been estimated by the management based on information from and discussions with representatives
of the management of the investee companies, and based on the latest available audited financial statements and un-audited
management accounts.

Special Purpose Entities

The Group sponsors the formation of Special Purpose Entities (SPE’s) primarily for the purpose of allowing clients to hold
investments. The Group provides corporate administration, investment management and advisory services to these SPE’s,
which involve the Group making decisions on behalf of such entities. The Group administers and manages these entities on
behalf of its clients, who are by and large third parties and are the economic beneficiaries of the underlying investments. The
Group does not consolidate SPE’s that it does not have the power to control and the entities are held on behalf, and for the
beneficial interest, of third parties. In determining whether the Group has the power to control an SPE, judgments are made
about the objectives of the SPE’s activities, its exposure to the risks and rewards, as well as about the Group’s intention and
ability to make operational decisions for the SPE and whether the Group derives benefits from such decisions.

Impairment of investments
The Group determines that investments are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment and is assessed for each investment

separately. In case of quoted equity securities, the Group considers a decline of more than 30% in the fair value below cost to
be significant and considers a decline below cost which persists for more than 6 months as prolonged.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

5 Critical accounting judgment and key source of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of investments (continued)

Where fair values are not readily available and the investments are carried at cost, the recoverable amount of such investment
is estimated to a test for impairment. A significant portion of the Group’s available-for-sale investments comprise of investments
in long-term real estate development projects. In making a judgment of impairment, the Group evaluates among other factors,
evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the project, impacts of delays in execution, industry and sector performance,
changes in technology, and operational and financing cash flows. It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that
the current assessment of impairment could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the investments within the
next financial year due to significant changes in the assumptions underlying such assessments.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group obtains valuations performed by external valuers in order to determine the fair value of its investment properties.
These valuations are based upon assumptions including future rental income, anticipated maintenance costs and the appropriate
discount rate. The valuers also make reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.

The level of activity in the investment property market has been at a low level for the past twelve months, primarily because of
the reduced availability of credit and global market conditions.

The lack of comparable market transactions has resulted in a greater level of professional judgment being relied upon in
arriving at valuations. Changes in the underlying assumptions could have a significant impact on the fair values presented.
Further information in relation to the valuation of investment properties is disclosed in Note 13 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Power to exercise significant influence

Where the Group holds over 20% of voting rights (but not over 50%) and the Group does not exercise significant influence,
the investment is treated either as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale investments. More
information is disclosed in Note 10 and note 11 to these consolidated financial statements. Where the Group holds more than
50% of the voting rights and exercises only temporary control or joint control, the investment is treated either as investment
in a joint venture or available-for-sale investments. Details are given in Notes 11 and 12 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Legal proceedings

The Group recognises a provision where there is a present obligation from a past event, a transfer of economic benefits is
probable and the amount of costs of the transfer can be estimated reliably. In instances where the criteria are not met, a
contingent liability may be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Obligations arising in respect of
contingent liabilities that have been disclosed, or those which are not currently recognised or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements could have a material effect on the Group’s financial position. Application of these accounting principles
to legal cases requires the Group’s management to make determinations about various factual and legal matters beyond its
control.

The Group reviews outstanding legal cases following developments in the legal proceedings at each reporting date, in order
to assess the need for provisions and disclosures in its consolidated financial statements. Among the factors considered
in making decisions on provisions are the nature of litigation, claims or assessment, the legal process and potential level of
damages in the jurisdiction in which the litigation, claims or assessment has been brought, the progress of the case (including
the progress after the date of the consolidated financial statements but before those statements are issued), the opinions or
views of legal advisers, experience on similar cases and any decision of the Group’s management as to how it will respond to
the litigation, claim or assessment.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

5 Critical accounting judgment and key source of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provisions

The Group creates provision for impaired receivables to account for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers
to make the required payments. At 31 December 2010, in the opinion of the Group’s management, the provision required
for impaired receivables amounted to US$688 thousand (2009: US$780 thousand) (Note 9). When evaluating the adequacy
of the provision for impaired receivables, management bases its estimate on current overall economic conditions, ageing of
the accounts receivable balances, historical write-off experience, customer creditworthiness and changes in payment terms.
Changes in the economy, industry or specific customer conditions may require adjustments to the provision for impaired
receivables recorded in these consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of
such contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment and estimates of the outcome of future events.

6 Segmental information

Business segments - primary reporting segment

The Group’s primary segment reporting format is business segments. A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business

segments. The Group’s primary business segments are:

e |nvestment and related services - This division is involved in investment and other related services. This division contributes
negatively (162%) of the Group’s revenue.

e Construction contracts — This division is involved in undertaking construction contracts and contributes 39% of the
Group’s revenue.

e Development and sale of industrial plots — This division is involved in sale and development of industrial plots and
contributes 19% of the Group’s revenue.

e Property and facility management services — This division is involved in facility management of the properties. The
division is the smallest of the Group’s four divisions and contributes 4% of the Group’s revenue.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

6 Segmental information (continued)
As at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2010
Development Property
Investments and sale of and facility
and related  Construction industrial  management
services contracts plots services  Eliminations Total
Net revenues from external
customers 3,895 4,896 1,987 464 - 11,242
Unrealised fair value losses
from investment properties (25,030) - - - - (25,030)
Inter-segment transactions - - - 230 (230) -
Income from investments (143) 159 174 21 - 211
Share of profits/(losses) from
investment in a joint venture/
associates (Note 12) (117) - 94 - - (23)
Other income 336 12 217 - - 565
Total revenues (21,059) 5,067 2,472 715 (230) (13,035)
Segment profit (38,562) 3,454 241 (11) - (34,878)
Reportable segment assets 445,924 27,226 86,349 977 (191,095) 369,381
Reportable segment liabilities 181,501 8,922 67,573 94 (93,749) 164,341
Other segment information
Depreciation (Note 15) 968 815 117 48 - 1,948
Investment in a joint venture/
associates 86,186 - 10,228 - - 96,414
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

6 Segmental information (continued)
As at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2009
Development Property
Investments and sale of and facility
and related  Construction industrial  management
services contracts plots services  Eliminations Total
Net revenues from external
customers 26,255 10,551 2,390 263 - 39,459
Unrealised fair value losses from
investment properties (8,617) - - - - 8,617)
Inter-segment transactions - - - 207 (207) -
Income from investments 628 253 970 40 - 1,891
Share of profits/(losses) from
investment in a joint venture/
associates (Note 12) 1,981 - (44) - - 1,937
Other income 304 11 82 - - 397
Total revenues 25,551 10,815 3,398 510 (207) 40,067
Segment profit 625 9,626 1,347 (270) - 11,328
Reportable segment assets 489,553 23,787 140,137 1,001 (225,958) 428,520
Reportable segment liabilities 193,707 8,937 95,608 107 (107,486) 190,873
Other segment information
Depreciation (Note 15) 497 551 109 37 - 1,194
Investment in a joint venture/
associates 89,774 - 10,133 - - 99,907
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

6 Segmental information (continued)

Geographical segments — secondary reporting segment

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject
to risks and return that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

The Group’s activities are restricted to investing in real estate projects and in private equity and property funds in the GCC and
the USA.

The following is a geographical distribution of the Group’s investments:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
GCC USA GCC USA
Investment properties 120,145 - 139,998 -
Available-for-sale investments 34,542 700 31,719 700
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - - 3,148 -

7 Cash and cash equivalents
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Short-term Mudaraba and Murabaha deposits 6,252 30,595
Current account balances with banks 11,024 6,355
Cash on hand 7 5
17,283 36,955

Short-term Mudaraba and Murabaha deposits represent amounts placed with financial institutions, which have original maturity
periods of less than 90 days, and earn market rates of profit. The profits from Mudaraba and Murabaha deposits are recognised
over the period of the related investment.

The current account balances with banks are non-profit bearing.

8 Mudaraba and Murabaha investments

Mudaraba and Murabaha investments represent amounts placed with financial institutions, which have maturity periods ranging
between 91 to 360 days, and earn market rates of profit per annum receivable on maturity. The profits from Mudaraba and
Murabaha investments are recognised over the period of the related investment.

9 Trade and other receivables
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Trade receivables 37,663 49,084
Amounts due from related parties (Note 28) 35,251 43,488
Prepayments and other receivables 4,629 6,841
Rents receivable 706 1,145
Advances to contractors and suppliers 27 8,179
78,276 108,737
Provision for impaired receivables (688) (780)
77,588 107,957
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

9 Trade and other receivables (continued)

As at 31 December, the ageing of unimpaired trade and other receivables is as follows:

Total Less than 6 More than 6

months months

At 31 December 2010 77,588 25,972 51,616
At 31 December 2009 107,957 68,048 39,909

Unimpaired trade receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. In the opinion of the
Group’s management, the fair values of the trade and other receivables are not expected to be significantly different from their
carrying values.

The trade receivables stated at a carrying amount of US$15.125 million (2009: US$10.387 million) are secured as guarantee
against the ljara and Murabaha financing facilities obtained (Note 17).

Amounts due from related parties are unsecured, bear no profit and have no fixed repayment terms.
The Group’s trade receivables are primarily denominated in Bahrain Dinar.

The movement in the Group’s provision for impaired rents receivable is as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Opening balance 780 455
Provision for the year 6 762
Written-off during the year (98) (437)
Closing balance 688 780

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in “general and administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written-off when there is no
expectation of recovering the related receivables.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk at
the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

10 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Opening balance 3,148 3,768
Additions during the year - 3,403
Disposals during the year (2,878) (3,676)

Realised fair value (losses)/gains recognised in the
consolidated statement of income (233) 272

Unrealised fair value losses recognised in the

consolidated statement of income - (557)
Net foreign exchange losses 87) (62)
Closing balance - 3,148
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

10 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise of the following:

31 December 31 December
2010 2009

Shares in a property fund - 3,148

Although the Group had a 25% ownership interest in the property fund, the investment was reflected as a financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss rather than as an investment in an associate as this investment was held to generate short-term
gains and the Group did not exercise significant influence over the financial and operating policies of this fund. This investment
has been disposed during the year.

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in Kuwait Dinar.

The fair value of the fund was based on their current market prices in an active market.

11 Available-for-sale investments
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Opening balance (before impairment provision) 33,519 29,092
Purchases during the year 7,373 4,532
Transferred to investment in a joint venture/ associates (Note 12) (8,161) -
Disposals during the year (1,029) (105)
36,702 33,519
Impairment provision (1,460) (1,100)
Closing balance 35,242 32,419

During 2010, the Group transferred part of its stake in an associate to a third party in consideration for certain available-for-sale
investment (Note 12).

Although the Group has 22.22% equity interest in one of the funds, this investment has been treated as available-for-sale as
the Group does not exercise significant influence over this entity.

Available-for-sale investments include investments in unlisted companies whose shares are not traded on active markets. The
investments are primarily in closely held companies located in the Gulf Co-operation Council countries (GCC) and the United
States of America (USA). In the Group management’s opinion, the fair values of these investments are not significantly different
from their carrying values at 31 December 2010.

The available-for-sale investments stated at a carrying amount of US$8.289 million (2009: US$8.289 million) are secured as
guarantee against the ljara and Murabaha facilities obtained (Note 17).

The movement in impairment provision on available-for-sale investments is as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Opening balance 1,100 -
Charge for the year 360 1,100
Closing balance 1,460 1,100
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

12 Investment in a joint venture/associates

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Opening balance 99,907 80,941
Transferred from available-for-sale investments (Note 11) 3,161 -
Dividends received during the year (8,979) (9,629)
Additions during the year = 26,658
Disposals during the year (2,652) -
Net share of (losses)/profits from investment in associates (23) 1,937
Closing balance 96,414 99,907

Details of the Group’s investment in associates are as follows:

Percentage of ownership
interest
Name of the associate Coluntry‘ of Description of 2010 2009
registration shares held

: . Ordinary shares of

Tala Property Development WLL Kingdom of Bahrain BD1,000 each 60.00% 60.00%
) Ordinary shares of

Durrat Marina Investment Company Ltd. Cayman Islands BD1 each 5.78% 55.78%
) . . Ordinary shares of

BIW Labour Accommodation WLL Kingdom of Bahrain BD 100 each 57.08% 57.08%
. Ordinary shares of

Madaen Al Luzi Company Ltd. Cayman Islands US$10 each 8.66% 08.66%
Ordinary shares of

Dannat Resort Development Company Ltd.  Cayman Islands SR1 each 30.39% 35.76%
Takhzeen Warehousing and Storage ' . Ordinary shares of

Company BSC (c) Kingdom of Bahrain BD 100 each 33.50% -

The Group has a 60% (2009: 60%) shareholding in Tala Property Development WLL, a limited liability company registered
with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce in the Kingdom of Bahrain, whose principal activities are property management,
development and maintenance and purchase and sale of properties. Although the Group has a 60% shareholding in Tala
Property Development Company WLL, the investment has been considered as an investment in a joint venture rather than as a
subsidiary, primarily because the Group exercises joint control. Accordingly, the results of operations and assets and liabilities
have not been consolidated and the interest in this joint venture has been recognised using the equity method of accounting.

In 2008, the Group invested US$9.87 million in Durrat Marina Investment Company Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands, to acquire a 16.74% ownership interest. Subsequently the Group’s shareholding in Durrat Marina
Investment Company Ltd. increased to 25.78%. Accordingly, the Group’s investment in Durrat Marina Investment Company
Ltd. has been treated as an associate in these consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2010, one the subsidiary of the Group, Al Khaleej Development Co. BSC(C)’s direct shareholding in BIW
Labour Accommodation WLL, a limited liability company registered with the Ministry of Industry and Commerce in the Kingdom
of Bahrain, amounted to 6.26%. However, one of the subsidiaries of the Al Khaleej Development BSC(C), Bahrain Investment
Wharf BSC (c), holds 20.82% shares in BIW Labour Accommodation WLL. Therefore, the effective ownership interest of
the Group in BIW Labour Accommodation WLL as at 31 December 2010 amounted to 27.08%. Accordingly, the Group’s
investment in BIW Labour Accommodation WLL has been treated as an associate in these consolidated financial statements.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

12 Investment in a joint venture/associates (continued)

In 2008, the Group invested US$4.4 million in Madaen Al Luzi Company Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands, to acquire a 14.95% ownership interest. Subsequently the Group’s shareholding increased to 28.66% and,
accordingly, the Group’s investment in Madaen Al Luzi Company Ltd. has been treated as an associate in these consolidated
financial statements.

In 2009, the Group invested US$26.66 million in Dannat Resort Development Company Ltd., a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, to acquire a 35.76% ownership interest. The Group’s contribution in the associate was
made partly by way of an in-kind transfer of ownership of certain investment properties (Note 13). However, during the year
ended 31 December 2010, the Company has swapped certain part of its investment in Dannat Resort Development Company
Ltd. to a third party in consideration of receiving certain available-for-sale investments (Note 11) bringing the group’s ownership
in Dannat Resort Development Company Ltd. to 30.39%.

During 2010, the Group invested US$3.16 million in Takhzeen Warehousing and Storage Company BSC (c), a closed joint stock
Company incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain to acquire 33.5% ownership interest. Accordingly, the Group’s investment
in Takhzeen Warehousing and Storage Company BSC (c) has been treated as an associate in these consolidated financial
statements.

Summarised financial information of the Group’s investment in a joint venture/associates as extracted from the audited financial
statements prepared as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2010 is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2010 2009
Total assets 376,642 377,881
Total liabilities (49,883) (56,406)
Net assets 326,759 321,475
Group’s share in the net assets 96,414 99,907
Operating profit for the year 293 3,991
Net profit for the year (2,471) 2,330
Group’s share in the net profit (23) 1,937

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group received dividends from the investment in a joint venture/associates
amounting to US$3.979 million (2009: US$9.629 million).

The investment in a joint venture/associates stated at a carrying amount of US$10.999 million (2009: 13.723 million) are
secured as guarantee against the ljara and Murabaha facilities obtained (Note 17).

13 Investment properties

31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Opening balance 139,998 173,955
Purchases during the year 183,989 -
Disposals during the year (8,812) (27,716)
Transferred to properties under development (Note 14) - (2,624)

Unrealised fair value losses on investment properties recognised in the
consolidated statement of income (25,030) (8,617)
Closing balance 120,145 139,998

Investment properties are stated at their fair values that have been determined based on valuations performed by independent
property valuers. The valuations undertaken were based on open market values, which represent the prices at which the
properties could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing buyers and knowledgeable willing sellers in an arm’s length
transaction.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

13 Investment properties (continued)

In 2009, the disposals include certain properties amounting to US$26.66 million transferred to one of the associates of the
Group as their share in the investment contribution.

The investment properties stated at a carrying amount of US$55.815 million are secured as guarantee against the ljara and
Murabaha facilities obtained (Note 17).

14 Properties under development
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Opening balance 3,417 B
Transferred from investment properties (Note 13) - 2,624
Costs incurred during the year 3,117 793
Closing balance 6,534 3,417

The properties under development stated at a carrying amount of US$6.534 million are secured as guarantee against the ljara
and Murabaha facilities obtained (Note 17).

15 Property, plant and equipment
Machinery
Building on equipment, Computer
leasehold  furniture and hardware and Motor

land fixtures software vehicles Total
Cost
At 31 December 2008 - 1,754 760 850 3,364
Additions - 2,962 866 175 4,003
Disposals - (330) (156) (131) (617)
At 31 December 2009 - 4,386 1,470 894 6,750
Additions 4,284 765 106 346 5,501
Disposals - (454) (439) (203) (1,096)
At 31 December 2010 4,284 4,697 1,137 1,037 11,155
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 December 2008 - 669 403 241 1,313
Charge for the year - 653 243 298 1,194
Disposals - (299) (92) (85) (476)
At 31 December 2009 - 1,023 554 454 2,031
Charge for the year 39 1,215 375 319 1,948
Disposals - (397) (287) (145) (829)
At 31 December 2010 39 1,841 642 628 3,150
Net book amount
At 31 December 2010 4,245 2,856 495 409 8,005
At 31 December 2009 - 3,363 916 440 4,719

The Group operates from premises leased at an average monthly rent of US$133 thousand (2009: US$133 thousand per
month).
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

15 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The depreciation charge for the year is allocated as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Depreciation charged to contract costs (Note 23) 497 467
Depreciation charged to expenses 1,451 727
1,948 1,194

16 Trade and other payables

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Trade payables 62,652 86,222
Amounts due to related parties (Note 28) 11,087 9,278
Accruals and other payables 15,282 23,651
Retentions payable 1,327 1,233
Advances received 1,999 16
92,347 120,400

Current portion of trade and other payables (42,242) (69,616)
Long-term payables 50,105 50,784

Trade payables are generally payable within 60 to 90 days of the suppliers’ invoice date.

The long-term payables represent lease rent payables relating to one of the subsidiaries of the Company.

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, bear no profit and have no fixed repayment terms.

17 ljara and Murabaha financing

31 December

31 December

2010 2009
Non-current portion of ljara and Murabaha financing
ljara payable (a) - 5,305
Murabaha payable (b), (c), (9) & (h) 41,780 26,525
41,780 31,830
Current portion of ljara and Murabaha financing
ljara payable (a) & (d) 8,943 4,548
Murabaha payable(b), (e), (f), (g) & (h) 21,271 34,095
30,214 38,643
Total ljara and Murabaha financing 71,994 70,473
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

17 ljara and Murabaha financing (continued)

a) liara payable represents an ljara financing facility obtained from a local bank amounting to US$5.305 million to finance
the purchase of a plot of land. The amount is repayable in one single installment falling due in October 2011.

b) The Group obtained Murabaha financing facility from a local bank amounting to US$26.525 million to finance the
acquisition of investments and for meeting its working capital requirements. The amount was repayable in one
single installment due in April 2010 which has now been rescheduled and the amount is payable in 5 semi-annual
installments starting from April 2011, the last installment falling due in April 2013.

C) Murabaha payable represents a financing facility obtained from a local bank amounting to US$13.263 million to
finance the working capital requirements. The amount is repayable in one single installment falling due in April 2012.

d) liara payable represents an ljara financing facility obtained from a local bank amounting to US$27.735 million for the
purchase of a plot of land. The Group has jointly obtained this financing facility with two other investors. Accordingly,
as the liability for this financing facility is shared equally between the three investors, only the Group’s share in this
financing facility amounting to US$9.245 million is included in the consolidated financial statements. The amount was
repayable in one single installment due in June 2008. However, during the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
repaid an amount of US$3.561 million as its share in part-settlement of the ljara financing with the balance being
renewed for one year falling due in June 2009. The facility was rolled-over for a further period of one more year falling
due in June 2010 after a part-payment of US$1.136 million was made in June 2009. The facility has been once again
rolled-over for a further period of one more year falling due in June 2011 after a part-settiment of US$0.910 million in
June 2010.

e) Murabaha payable represents a financing facility obtained from a local bank amounting to US$2.159 million to finance
the purchase of a building. The amount was repayable in one single installment due in October 2010 which has been
duly repaid by the Group.

f) In 2008 the Group obtained a Murabaha financing facility from a local bank amounting to US$31.830 million to finance
the purchase of a land. The amount was repayable in one single installment due in August 2009, and was renewed
after a part payment of US$15.915 million, for a further period of one year. The balance amount was repayable in four
equal installments due in November 2009, February 2010, May 2010 and August 2010. The Group has repaid all the
installments during the year ended 31 December 2010.

9) In 2008, the Group obtained a Murabaha financing facility from a local bank amounting to US$30 million to finance its
working capital requirements. The amount was repayable in three equal installments due in July 2009, January 2010
and July 2010 respectively. The installment due in July 2009 and January 2010 amounting to US$10 million each has
been duly repaid. The installment of US$10 million due in July 2010 has been rescheduled in two equal installments
of US$5 million each due in January 2011 and July 2011 respectively.

() During 2010, the Group obtained a Murabaha financing facility from a local bank amounting to US$13.263 million to
finance its working capital requirements. The amount is repayable in five installments starting from September 2011
to September 2015 due as follows: US$1.326 million in September 2011, US$2.652 million each in September 2012
and 2013, and US$3.316 million each in September 2014 and 2015.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

17 ljara and Murabaha financing (continued)

The above financial facilities are secured against the following assets and bear profit at market rates.

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Trade receivables (Note 9) 15,125 10,387
Available-for-sale investments (Note 11) 8,289 8,289
Investment in a joint venture/associates (Note 12) 10,999 13,7283
Investment properties (Note 13) 55,815 111,251
Properties-under-development (Note 14) 6,534 -
96,762 143,650

That portion of the loans which is repayable within one year from the statement of financial position date is disclosed as current
portion of ljara and Murabaha finance loans.

The amounts stated above equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not considered significant by
management.

18 Share capital
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Authorised
375,000,000 (2009: 375,000,000) shares of US$0.40 each
(2009: US$0.40 each) 150,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid-up
At 1 January
267,767,500 (2009: 243,425,000)
ordinary shares of US$0.40 each (2009: US$0.40 each) 107,107 97,370
Bonus issue
18,743,725 (2009 : 24,342,500 shares)
ordinary shares of US$0.40 each (2009: US$0.40 each) 7,497 9,737
114,604 107,107
Treasury shares
Less: 1,627,500 treasury shares (2009: 3,721,328)
treasury shares of US$0.40 each (2009: US$0.40 each) (651) (1,488)
At 31 December
284,883,725 (2009 : 264,046,173)
ordinary shares of US$0.40 each (2009: US$0.40 each) 113,953 105,619

Treasury shares represent shares issued to Tameer for Private Management WLL, a subsidiary of the Company.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

18 Share capital (continued)
Additional information on shareholding pattern

i) The names and nationalities of the major shareholders and the number of shares held in which they have an interest of
5% or more outstanding shares are as follows:

Percentage of

Number of shareholding

Name of the shareholder Nationality shares interest
Al-Muthana Investment Co Kuwaiti 49,098,427 17.23%
Kuwait Finance House Kuwaiti 26,341,695 9.25%
Dubai Islamic Bank Emirati 19,748,883 6.93%
Others Various 189,694,720 66.59%
284,883,725 100%

i) The Company has only one class of equity shares and the holders of the shares have equal voting rights. Further, all the
shares issued are fully paid.

i) The distribution pattern of equity shares, setting out the number of shareholders and percentages in the following
categories is as follows:

Percentage

of total

Number of Number of outstanding

shareholders shares shares

Less than 1% 834 80,150,171 28.13%
1% up to less than 5% 16 109,544,549 38.45%
5% up to less than 10% 2 46,090,578 16.18%
10% up to less than 20% 1 49,098,427 17.24%
853 284,883,725 100.00%

iv)  The Board of Directors collectively hold 0.79% shares of the total issued and paid-up share capital of the Company
(2009: 0.66%).

Details of shares owned by the Directors of the Company are as follows:
Number of shares

2010 2009
Fareed Soud Al-Fozan 962,650 899,673
Samir Yagoob Al-Nafisi 474,723 77,000
Jamal Abdul Rahman Al-Rowaiyeh 230,238 215,176
Ahmed Rashed Al-Qattan 200,511 187,393
Talal Khalid Al-Nesef 94,160 88,000
Adel Yagoob Al-Nafisi 88,275 82,500
Faisal Abdulla Al-Khazam 78,050 72,944
Saleh Turki Al-Khamees 78,050 72,944
Abdulrahman Yousif Fakhro 49,530 -
Ayman Ahmed Adel Kamal = 72,944

2,256,187 1,768,574
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

18 Share capital (continued)
V) Contribution to charity
Transferred to charity fund

No contribution to charity fund relating to the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: US$500 thousand) was approved by
the shareholders in the Annual General Meeting held on 9 March 2010 (4 March 2009).

Proposed by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Group do not propose any charity contributions for the year ended 31 December 2010 (31
December 2009: US$ Nil).

Vi) Directors’ remuneration

An amount of US$261 thousand was appropriated from retained earnings as Directors’ remuneration in 2009, relating to the
year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: US$585 thousand). The payment was approved by the shareholders in the Annual
General Meeting held on 9 March 2010 (2009: 4 March 2009).

Proposed by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of the Group do not propose any Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2010
(2009: US$261 thousand).

vii) Dividends

A cash dividend of US$ Nil (2008:US$ 29.211 million at 12 cents per share) representing Nil % (2008: 30%) of the issued
and fully paid-up share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2009 ( 31 December 2008) and 7% stock
dividend (2008: 10%), i.e. bonus share issue of 18.744 million shares (2008:24.342 million shares) was approved by the
shareholders in the Annual General Meeting held on 9 March 2009 (2008: 4 March 2009).

Proposed by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors do not propose to pay any dividend (2009: 7% stock dividend) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

The proposed dividend (if any) only becomes payable once it has been approved by the shareholders in the Annual General
Meeting and, accordingly, the proposed dividend has not been accounted for in these consolidated financial statements.
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Inovest BSC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in US$000’s)

19 Reserves

a) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the provisions of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 2001, Decree No. 21 of 2001, an amount
equivalent to 10% of the Group’s net profit before appropriations is required to be transferred to a non-distributable reserve
account until such time as a minimum of 50% of the issued share capital is set aside. As the Group has reported a net loss
during the year ended 31 December 2010, no transfer has been made to the statutory reserve (2009: US$1.133 million).

b) Share option reserve

This represents the difference between the grant price and fair value of the Company’s share options issued to the Group’s
employees in accordance with the employee share option plan (Note 26). This reserve will be utilised when the shares are
issued to the employees.

During the year, the Group issued 2,199,995 ( 2009: 4,455,051) shares to its employees under the employees’ stock option
plan. Accordingly, the share option reserve totalling to US$0.463 million (2009: US$1.510 million) has been transferred from
the share option reserve to the share premium account.

20 (Losses)/income from properties
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Realised gains on sale of investment properties 1,772 1,001
Unrealised fair value losses on investment properties (25,030) (3,617)
Rental income 1,893 4,404
Property related facilities income OIS 1,388
(20,792) 3,176
21 Income from investments

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Realised losses on sale of available-for-sale investments (29) -
Realised gains on transfer of investment in a joint venture/associate 13 -
Murabaha profits 432 2,125

Unrealised fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss - (557)

Realised fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (233) 272
Dividend income 28 51
211 1,891

22 Income from advisory services

Income from advisory fees includes fees earned by the Group with respect to the development of a plot of land. Further, the
advisory fees also include placement, project management, investment banking and agency fees.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

23 Net income from construction contracts
Year ended 31 Year ended
December 31 December
2010 2009
Contract income 18,071 30,019
Contract costs (13,175) (19,468)
4,896 10,551

The contract costs include depreciation amounting to US$497 thousand (2009: US$467 thousand) (Note 15).

24 Income from sale of lease/project rights

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group entered into a Joint Venture and Property Contribution Agreement (“the
Agreement”) with a strategic partner with respect to the development of a plot of land. In accordance with the terms of the
Agreement, the Group assigned its rights in the Project to a group of investors (“SPV”) for an agreed fee. The Group recognised
revenue of US$11.162 million, net of expenses, in the consolidated statement of income on sale of project rights to the SPV
on a pro-rata basis based on the funds received from the investors till 31 December 2009. In 2010, an income of US$744
thousand has been recognised from this Project.

25 Other income
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Net foreign exchange gains = 52
Other income 565 345
565 397

26 Staff costs

No provision has been made for staff incentive for the year ended 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009: US$ Nil) as the
Group’s net profit are not in excess of a pre-determined hurdle rate as set out in the Group’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association.

Further, staff costs includes expenses amounting to US$0.854 million (31 December 2009: US$1.020 million) relating to equity-
settled share-based payment transactions for the year ended 31 December 2010.

27 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares issued during the year.

Year ended Year ended 31

31 December December

2010 2009

Net (loss)/profit attributable to the shareholders (34,878) 11,328
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 284,659,039 280,936,501
Basic and diluted earnings per share (12.25) cents 4.03 cents
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in US$000’s)

27 Earnings per share (continued)

The distribution of 18.744 million (2009: 24.342 million) bonus shares was completed during the year ended 31 December 2010
and, therefore, the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2009 have been restated to give effect to the bonus issue.

The Company does not have any potentially dilutive ordinary shares, hence the diluted earnings per share and basic earnings
per share are identical.

28 Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties include entities over which the Group exercises
significant influence, major shareholders, directors and executive management of the Group. The Group’s transactions with
related parties are authorised by the management.

The following are the transactions entered into with the related parties during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Income

Income from properties 75 -
Income from investments 29 44
Income from advisory services 824 8,162
Net Income from Construction Contracts 3,342 -
Income from sale of lease/project rights 744 11,162
Other income 339 100
Share of (loss)/profit from investment in a joint venture/associates (23) 1,938

Expenses
General and administrative expenses 499 -

A summary of the related party balances as at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 is as follows:

31 December

31 December

2010 2009
Available-for-sale investments 12,897 11,847
Investment in a joint venture/associates 96,414 99,907
Trade and other receivables 35,251 43,488
Murabaha receivables and current accounts 5 5
Trade and other payables 11,087 9,278
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

29 Contingent liabilities and commitments

The Group’s contingent liabilities and capital commitments are as follows:

31 December

31 December

2010 2009

Uncalled share capital relating to available-for-sale investments = 28,388
Contingent liabilities 8,491 3,921
Capital commitments 2,008 11,693
10,499 44,002

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities arise in the ordinary course of business and include acceptances and guarantees provided on behalf of a
related party.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments represent amounts contracted for at the consolidated statement of financial position date in
respect of investment properties and underwriting commitments.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

Not later than 1 year 1,430 422
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,304 -
Later than 5 years 50,105 50,784
52,839 51,206

30 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management

Financial assets and liabilities carried in the consolidated statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents,
Mudaraba and Murabaha investments, available-for-sale investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
investment in a joint venture/associates, trade and other receivables, ljara and Murabaha financing and trade and other
payables. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each
item.

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy capital ratio in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

30 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (continued)
Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes

within net debt, ljara and Murabaha financing and trade and other payables less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes
share capital and reserves attributable to the shareholders of the Company.

31 December 31 December

2010 2009

liara and Murabaha financing 71,994 70,473
Trade and other payables 92,347 120,400
Less: cash and cash equivalents (17,283) (36,955)
Net debt 147,058 153,918
Share capital 113,953 105,619
Share premium 30,760 29,962
Statutory reserve 21,473 21,473
Share option reserve 1,688 1,144
Retained earnings 37,319 79,449
Total capital and reserves 205,040 237,647
Total capital and net debt 352,098 391,565
Gearing ratio 41.77% 39.30%

Risk management

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) has the overall responsibility for establishing the Group’s risk management culture and
ensuring that an effective framework is in place. The Board with the support of both the Audit Committee and Executive
Committee approves and periodically reviews risk management policies and strategies of the Group.

The principal risks facing the Group are investment, liquidity, operational, legal, reputation and regulatory risks as set out in
more details below.

Investment risk is defined as the uncertainty about the future benefits to be realised from an investment. The Group has well-
defined policies for managing investment risk. These policies cover investment authority limits and investment assessment
practices. The Investment Department, the Risk Department and the Finance Department study the impact of transactions on
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position and monitors the investment portfolio on a continuous basis. Every
investment application is reviewed by a designated body depending on the size and the nature of the transaction. Fair valuation
is generally conducted on a quarterly basis. The Group has a policy to ensure the conservatism convention and to make the
necessary provisions when they are warranted.

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall due. The Risk and Finance
Department has the overall responsibility for managing the funds and the liquidity of the Group. The day-to-day management
of liquidity is the responsibility of the Risk and Finance Department along with Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.
The Board will provide broad guidelines with regards to minimum liquid assets to be maintained and use assets maturity profile
for managing the liquidity risk.
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

30 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash-flows) of financial

liabilities:
Between Between
Upto3 3and 12 1and 2 More than
At 31 December 2010 Total months months years 2 years
ljara and Murabaha financing 71,994 5,000 25,214 26,734 15,046
Trade and other payables 92,347 15,346 26,896 - 50,105
Total 164,341 20,346 52,110 26,734 65,151
Between Between
Upto3 3and 12 1and 2 More than
At 31 December 2009 Total months months years 2 years
ljara and Murabaha financing 70,473 13,979 24,664 15,915 15,915
Trade and other payables 120,400 26,558 43,058 - 50,784
Total 190,873 40,537 67,722 15,915 66,699

Operational risk is the exposure to loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or external
events. The Group seeks to minimise this risk through a framework of policies and procedures to identify, control and manage
these risks.

Regulatory risk is the risk of non-compliance with regulatory and legal requirements in the Kingdom of Bahrain and the State
of Kuwait. The Group’s Compliance Department is currently responsible for ensuring all regulations are adhered to.

Legal risk includes the risk of unexpected losses from transactions and/or contracts not being enforceable under applicable
laws or from unsound documentation. The Group deals with several external law firms to support it in managing the legal
risk.

Reputation risk is the risk that negative perception regarding the Group’s business practices or internal controls, whether true
or not, will cause a decline in the Group’s investors’ base and lead to costly litigations which could have an adverse impact on
the liquidity of the Group. The Board represented by the Board Executive Committee examines the issues that are considered
to have reputation repercussions for the Group and issues directives to address these.

Credit rate risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party
to incur a financial loss. Cash is placed with national and international banks with good credit ratings. Management believes
that no additional credit risk beyond amounts provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group’s trade receivables.

Quantitative disclosures of the credit risk exposure in relation to financial assets are set out below. Further disclosures regarding
trade and other receivables, which are neither past due nor impaired, are provided in Note 9 to these consolidated financial

statements.
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Carrying Maximum Carrying Maximum
value exposure value exposure
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 17,283 17,283 36,955 36,955
Mudaraba and murabaha investments 8,170 8,170 - -
Trade and other receivables 77,588 77,588 107,957 107,957
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in US$000’s)

30 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (continued)

Currency rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s foreign currency transactions are predominantly in Bahrain
Dinars which is effectively pegged to the United States Dollars. Accordingly, the management does not consider the Group to have a significant currency rate risk.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities were denominated in the following currencies (US$000’s equivalent):

Financial assets

United States Bahrain Dinars Saudi Riyals Kuwait Dinar United Arab Total
Dollars Emirates Dirhams
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Trade and other receivables 107 3,701 77,481 104,234 - 22 - - - - 77,588 107,957
Cash and cash equivalents 1,350 2,669 15,851 34,214 - - 77 67 5 5 17,283 36,955
Mudaraba and Murabaha investments - - 8,170 - - - - - - - 8,170 -
Available-for-sale investments 3,880 2,693 14,322 15,352 15,528 12,862 1,512 1,612 - - 35,242 32,419
Financial assets at fair valuen through = - - = - = 3,148 = - = 3,148
profit or loss
Investment in a joint venture/ associates 13,739 11,6583 58,760 61,724 23,915 26,530 - - - - 96,414 99,907
Total 19,076 20,716 174,584 215,524 39,443 39,414 1,589 4,727 5 5 234,697 280,386
Financial liabilities
United States Bahrain Dinars Saudi Riyals Kuwait Dinar United Arab Total
Dollars Emirates Dirhams
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
ljara and Murabaha financing 10,000 20,000 61,994 50,473 - - - - - - 71,994 70,473
Trade and other payables 717 7,162 90,500 113,238 1,130 - - - - - 92,347 120,400
Total 10,717 27,162 152,494 163,711 1,130 - - - - - 164,341 190,873
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Inovest BSC
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in US$000’s)

30 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (continued)

Profit rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market rates. The Group’s
assets and liabilities are not considered by management to be sensitive to profit rate risk.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled between knowledgeable, willing parties
in an arm’s length transaction.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially different from their carrying amounts.
Off-statement of financial position items
Assets Under Collective Management (AUM)

The details of assets managed/held on behalf of the clients as at 31 December 2010 is as follows:

Particulars Held under the name D|S(ér'et|on§ry/ nor- Amount (US$ ‘000)
iscretionary
Projects managed by the Individual Shareholders Non-discretionary 24,919
Company
Projects managed by Individual Shareholders Non-discretionary 306,163

subsidiaries of the Company

31 Zakah

The shareholders of the Company will be liable for the payment of Zakah.
32 Comparative balances

Certain comparative balances have been reclassified, wherever necessary, to conform with the presentation adopted in the
current year. Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit or shareholders’ equity.
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